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SUPREME CQURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK: COMMERCIAL DIVISION

____________________________________ e
THE PEQOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
by ANDREW M. CUOMO, Attorney General
of the State of New York,
Plaintiff,
Tndex gQNOo.

-against- 4067 7
FIRST AMERICAN CORPORATION and é /'
FIRST AMERICAN EAPPRAISEIT, 4!

Defendants. %v 410,{30 6@

____________________________________ X

Charles Edward Ramos, J.85.C.: 4@hfep 2
UG

Defendants First American Corporation (First A ' and
First American eAppraiseit (EAI) (together, Defendants)® md.é‘to
dismiss the complaint on the grounds that it is preempted by
federal banking law and regulations, and for failure to state a
cause of action (CPLR 3211 [a] [2], ([71).

This motion raises the issue of the preemptive effect of
federal banking regulations on state law claims that seek to
enforce standards of real estate appraisgser independence and for
fraudulent business practices arising out of the violation of
those gtandards.

Background

Plaintiff, The People of the State of New York, by
Attorney General Andrew Cuomo (AG), instituted this action on the
bagis of Executive Law § 63 (12), General Business Law § 349 and

the common law against First American and EAI. First American

! Defendants assert that the complaint did not use their
proper legal names, which are The First American Corporation and
eAppraiseit, LLC.
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provides real estate appraisal services to savings and loans
institutions, banks, and other lenders through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, EAI.

Non-party Washington Mutual, Inc. (Wamu) is the country’s
largest savings and loan. According to the complaint, Wamu is
EATI's largest client, providing nearly 30 percent of its New York
customers.

The AG alleges that, in the course of its relationship with
Wamu, Defendants permitted EAI’'s appraisers to be pressured into
changing appraisal values that were too low in order to allow
certain loans to proceed to closing. This conduct compromised
EAI's independence in providing unbiased wvaluations, to the

detriment of consumers, and amount to deceptive business

practices under New York and federal law.

The AG pointsg out that, in an unprecedented era of

foreclosures and economic distress, the independence and
integrity of the real estate appraisers who determine the value
of loan collateral, the home, is of utmost importance,
Undoubtedly, appraisal independence insures that a mortgage or
home-equity loan is not under-collateralized, and protects
borrowers from being over-extended financially and lenders from
loss of value in a foreclosure proceeding.

Further, the AG highlights that mortgage brokers and
lenders’ loan staff are paid on commission, the amount of which
typically depend on the number of loans closed and on the size of

the loan, a reality that permits an environment where appraigers
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are incentivized and pressured to value a home at the maximum
possible amount, regardless or whether the appraisal accurately
reflect the home’'s value.

In this environment, the AG alleges that Defendants’
independence, reqguired under federal and state regulations, was
unlawfully compromised.

According to the complaint, in the sgpring of 2006, Wamu
retained two appraisal management companies- EAI and its top
competitor, Lender’s Services, Inc. (LSI).

EAI employed both in-house and third-party fee appraisers,
including a number of “preferred appraisers” identified by Wamu,
to conduct appraisals on Wamu loan applications. Additionally,
EAI allegedly hired approximately 50 former Wamu apprailsers as
staff appraisers, and gave them the authority to override and
revise the values set by its in-house and third-party appraisers.
In total, one-third of EAI's staff appraisers are former Wamu
employees.

Pursuant to contractual arrangements between Wamu and EAT,
Wamu could challenge an appraiser’s conclusions by requesting a
“reconsideration of value” (ROV), when Wamu disagreed with an
appraised home value set forth in an EAI appraisal report.

Shortly after Wamu retained EAI, its loan production staff
allegedly began complaining that the appraisal values provided by
EAT appraisers were too low in value ﬁo permit the loans to
close. EAI’'s president told Wamu executives that “We need to

address the ROV igsue ... The Wamu internal staff we are speaking




with admonish us to be certain we solve the ROV issue quickly or
we will all be in for some pretty rough seas” (Complaint  30).

The following week, EAI's executive vice president explained
to its president that Wamu's loan officers routinely pressured
EAI appraisers, specifying the exact value that they needed or
asking for several ROVs on the same property. He indicated that
it amounted to “direct pressure on the appraiser for a higher
value without any additional information” (Complaint, § 31).

During the latter part of 2006, Defendants frequently
discussed this growing pressure from Wamu. Wamu allegedly
indicated that it would be interested in expanding its business
relationship with Defendants “if the appraisal issues axre
resolved” (Complaint, 9§ 34).

In a December 2006 e-mail, one EAI executive told his
colleagues that growing criticism from Wamu stemmed from the fact
that “values are coming in lower with EAI” than with its top
competitor (Complaint, § 36).

In February 2007, Wamu allegedly directed EAI to stop using
panels of gtaff and fee appraisers to perform Wamu appraisals,
and instead demanded that EAI use appraisers selected by Wamu’'s
loan origination staff. FBAI explained to First American Wamu's
motives for demanding the change: “Performance ratings to retain
position as a Wamu proven appraigser will be based on how many
come in on value, negating a need for an ROV” (Complaint, § 38).

Ultimately, EAI capitulated to the pressure, in violation of

appraisal independence standards. In a February 2007 e-mail, EAI
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indicated to First American that “we have agreed to roll over and
just do it” (Complaint, § 41). In an e-mail from EAI president
to Wamu executives, he allegedly indicated that "“Wamu proven
appraigers bring the value in a greater majority of the time... I
am fine with that, of course, and will happily assign Wamu orders
to Wamu proven appraisers instead of eAppraiseit’'s approved panel
appraiser whenever possible” (Complaint, ¢ 42).

Internally, EAI allegedly began to consider the legal
implications of its compromise of appraiser independence
standards. An EAT executive vice president warned that “it may
be that the OTS [Office of Thrift Supervision] is OK with WAMU's
current way (maybe) but the new way seems to be quite a stretch”
(Complaint, § 45). In an April 2007 e-mail, an EAT executive
vice president explained that “we as an AMC need to retain our
independence from the lender or it will lock like collusion
The reasoning that there are fewer ROVs is ... the proven
appraisers bring in the values ... Fun eh” (Complaint, 1 a6).

Subsequently, EAI’s President wrote to senior execuﬁives at
First American, and described EAI‘s capitulation to Wamu pressure
as “a violation of the 0CC ([0Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency], OTS [Office of Thrift Supervision], FDIC [Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation and USPAP (Uniform Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice] influencing regulation”
(Complaint, 9 48). In another memorandum prepared by EAI, it
recognized that complying with the Wamu proven panel violated

appraiser independence regulations (Complaint, {949-51).
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Degpite these legal concerns, by Spring 2007, EAI permitted Wamu
to be in virtual control of its appraisal panel. First American
ingtructed EAI to continue its relationship with Wamu, even
permitting Wamu's loan production staff to remove EAI appraisers
from the proven panel. One such EAI appraiser that was removed
from the panel on Wamu’'s demand wrote in an e-mail to EAT that,

“Thigs is the second Wamu Appraisal quality assurance issue I

have received from Wamu ... Both as a result of an appraisal

I completed that did not come in to their predetermined

value for a ‘valued’ Wamu client. I was pressured for two

weeks to change both my value and the conditions of my
appraisal report ... both of which were violations of USPAP,

FANNIE MAE and the Supplemental Standards I am reguired to

obgerve and am bounded by ... Since that time, I have been

gsingled out by WaMu and have been pressured on every
appraisal I have completed that did not reach a pre-

determined value” (Complaint, 9§ 81).

EAT's internal appraisal log entries indicate that its
appraisers created property values on appraisal reports after
being told by Wamu loan production origination staff that such
increases would help loans close.

On May 5, 2007, the AG issued a subpoena to First American.
Subsequently, the AG commenced this action against Defendants,
aggerting causes of action for fraudulent and deceptive business
practices pursuant to Executive Law § 63 (12) and violation of
General Business Law (GBL) § 349, and unjust enrichment.

Previously, Defendants removed the action to U.S. District
Court for the Southern District of New York, and moved in that
court to dismigs the complaint. The AG moved to remand the

action, which was granted (People of the State of New York v

First American Corporation, 2008 WL 2676618 [SD NY 2008]).
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Discussion

Defendants move to dismiss the complaint on the ground that
through two comprehensive federal statutes, the Home Owners Loan
Act (HOLA) and the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and
Enforcement Act (FIRREA), Congress broadly empowered the federal
Office of Thrift Supervigion (OTS) to promulgate and enforce
federal regulations governing all aspects of federal savings and
loan activities, including the manner in which appraisals are
conducted in connection with mortgage loan transacticons. On this
basis, Defendantg argue that the federal regulations so
thoroughly occupy the legislative field as to impliedly preempt
the AG’'s cause of action for violation of GBL § 349.

State law may be preempted through express statutory

language, by implication, and when it actually conflicts with

federal law (Balbuena v IDR Realty LLC, 6 NY3d 338, 356 [2006]).

Defendants do not identify any statute that expressly

preempts GBL § 349. The more germane issue is whether the AG’'s
claims are impliedly preempted by the comprehensive scheme of
federal law and regulations that exclusively govern the
operations of savings and loan associations, such as Wamu, and
banking institution-affiliated parties, such as‘Defendants.
Implied preemption takes the form of either “field
preemption” or “conflict preemption” (Balbuena, LLC, 6 NY3d at
356) . Field preemption occurs when federal law so thoroughly
occupies a legislative field “as to make reasonable the inference

that Congress left no room for the States to supplant it” (id.).
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Conflict preemption will be found where compliance with both
federal and state regulations is an impossibility, or where the
“state law stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and
execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress” (id.).

I. Field Preemption

Undoubtedly, Congress intended to have a significant
presence in the regulation of federal savings institutions.

HOLA® created the OTS for the purpose of administering the
statute, in order to promulgate regulations involving the
operation of federal savings associations (Fidelity Federal Sav.
and Loan Assoc. v de la Cuesta, 458 US 141, 144-45% [1982]).

In accordance with the broad mandate of HOLA, the 0TS
promulgated two regulations that address preemption, one of which
is relevant to the issues raised in this action. 12 CFR § 560.2
(a) states that Congress intends to occupy the legislative field
with respect to state laws that affect the operations of federal
savings associations. Sub-section (b) contains a list of types
of gtate laws preempted by OTS regulation, including state laws
purporting to impose requirements regarding licensing by
creditors, the ability of creditors to obtain mortgage insurarnce,

terms of credit, loan-related fees such as prepayment penaltieg,

2

HOLA was enacted in responsge to the Great Depression of
the 1930s, and its purpose wasg to, inter alia, provide emergency
relief with respect to home mortgage indebtedness due to
spiraling foreclosures. With HOLA, Congress created a system of
federal savings and loan assoclations, in order to ensure a
reliable source for the financing of home mortgages (Dime Sav.
Bank of New York, FSB v State, 174 AD2d 173, 174 [2d Dept 1992]).
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€8Crow accounts, access to credit reports, disclosure and
advertising, and “processing, origination, gervicing, sale or
purchase of, or investment or participation in, mortgages” (12
CFR § 560.2 [b]).

Immediately following this list of preempted laws, the
regulation setsg forth the types of state laws that it does not
preempt, including tort, commercial and contract laws that only
have an incidental effect on lending operations (12 CFR § 560.2
[c]).

Thus, 12 CFR § 560.2 (a) preempts state laws that have a
direct impact on the banking and lending activities of a federal
gavings association, such as those listed in § 560.2 (b), while §
560.2 [c] preserves gtate laws that only incidentally affect the
banking and lending activities of a federal savings association.

Many courts have analyzed the preemptive effect of 12 CFR §
560.2 on gtate laws that purport to regulate the conduct of
federal savings associations (see e.g. Silva v E*Trade Mortgage
Corp., 514 F 3d 1001, 1005 [9%™ Cir 2008]).

Real estate appraisals are not mentioned in 12 CFR § 560.2.
Moreover, the U.S. Supfeme Court has yet to address the
breemptive effect of these regulations on gtate laws that purport
to address real estate appraisal standards.

Nonetheless, other regulations promulgated by the OTS
pursuant to HOLA provide an informative glimpse into Congress’

intent with respect to preemption in the area of real estate

appraisals.
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FIRREA was passed in responsgse to the federal savings and
loan criéis that erupted in the mid-1980s. FIRREA sought to
regpond to the need to provide affordable housing mortgage
financing and housing opportunities, and enhanced management of
federal housing credit programs.

FIRREA established USPAP, a system of uniform national real
egstate appraisal standards (H.R. Rep. 101-54 [I], 103-04, 107
[1989]). Congress delegated articulation of USPAP standards and
qualification for appraisal licensing and certification of
appralsers to the Appraisal Foundation, a not-for-profit
organization created under FIRREA. According to the Appraisal
Foundation, the real estate appraisgser regulatory system
established by FIRREA involves “the Federal government, [and] the
gtates” (Appraisal Foundation
<http://www.appraisalfoundation.org/s
_appraisal/index.asp.> [1ast updated March 12, 2009]).
Consistent with this mandate, USPAP rules are expressly
incorporated into both New York and federal law (19 NYCRR §
1106.1; 12 USC § 3339).

Moreover, FIRREA sets forth requirements for using state
certified and licensed appraisers in federally related
transactions,’ and permits the establishment of gtate agencies

devoted to certifying and licensing appralsers (12 USC §§ 3331,

* A “federally related transaction” means any real estate-
related financial transaction which, inter alia, a federal
financial institutions regulatory agency or the Resolution Trust
Corporation engages in and that reqguiregs the services of an
appraiser (12 USC § 3350; 12 CFR § 564.2).

10
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3336; 12 CFR §8% 34.44, 546.3). 1t also established the
appraisal subcommittee (Appraisal Subcommittee) (12 USC § 3347),
to “ensure that the gtates and the [Appraisal] Foundation meet
the reguirements that the states use certifying appraisers and
the standards of professional practice to which appraisers are
held by the states” (Bppraisal Foundation <http://www.appraisal
foundation.org/s appraisal/sec.asp?CID=14&DID=14> [last updated
March 12, 2009]).

According to the Appraisal Subcommittee, FIRREA created “a
unique, complementary relationship between the States, the
private sector, and the Federal government .... [in]
recogni [tion] that the States are in the begt administrative
position to certify and license real estate appraisers and to
gsupervise their appraisal-related activities” (Appraisal
Subcommittee <https://www.asc.gov/default.aspx?id=6> [last
updated March 13, 2009)). Further, FIRREA relies on the states
to “monitor and supervise compliance with appraisal standards and
requirements” (Government Accountability Office
<http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d03404.pdf>) .

In the area of real estate appraisals, Congress expressly
envisioned a unique regulatory system overseen and enforced by
both the federal government and the states (see e.g. 12 USC §§
1332, 3346-3348). This unique framework is in stark éontrast to
other OTS-regulated activities that are governed by federal law
alone, because the activities directly impact some function of

lending or the exercise of a national bank’s power (see e.g.

11
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State Farm Bank, 539 F 3d at 345-46).

Moreover, with respect to federally related transactions or
USPAP violations, neither FIRREA nor HOLA provide an exclusive
federal remedy for unlawful appraisal practices (Bolden v KB
Home, 2008 WL 2899728, *5-8 [CD Cal 2008); see also Beneficial
Nat. Bank v Anderson, 539 US 1, 9 [2003] [an exclusive federal
remedy supports complete preemption]) .

Further, Congress did not provide for exclusive federal
jurisdiction over USPAP. Rather, by establishing USPAP as the
source for real estate appraisal standards and expressly
involving the states in overseeing certification, licensing and ’
compliance with its standards, it is evident that Congress did
not intend to occupy the entire field with respect to real estate
appralsals.

In fact, FIRREA permits the states to impose additional
appraisal standards if they consider such standards necessary to
carry out their responsibilities (Appraisal Subcommittee
<https://www.asc.gov/html/frameSet .aspx?assetPath=/uploads/Policy
$20Statements\amendedpolicystatements.pdf> [last updated March
13, 2009]).

Nearly all of the cases and expressions of federal intent
that Defendants cite to are fundamentally distinguishable,
because they involve state law claims either brought under or
based on a substantive state law rule specifically directed at
banking or lending activities.

In fact, Defendants fail to cite to any commentary by

12




14 1]

federal agencieg or legislators that guggest that Congress
intended federal law to occupy the entire field of real estate
appralsals.

In fact, the opposite is true. Recently, a House of
Repregsentatives Report on the Activity of the Committee on
Financial Services For the 110" Congress cited to a 2003
Government Accountability Office study that determined that “69
percent of States need more staffing for appraisal industry
overgight, and 40 percent needed more resources to support
related litigation efforts” (H.R. REP. 110-929 [2009]). The
Report noted the need to respond to growing media attention to
appraisal fraud, lender pressure, and faulty appraisals, and the
effectiveness of the federal Appraisal Subcommittee “in
overseeing State-based appraisal enforcement and licensing
programg” (Id.), thereby expressly acknowledging the states’ role
in this field.

Therefore, the Court concludes that federal regulation does
not occupy the entire field with respect to real estate appraisal
regulation (accord Bolden, 2008 WL 2899728 at *5; Fidelity Nat.
Info. Solutions, Inc. v Sinclair, 2004 WL 764834 [ED PA 2004]).

IT. Conflict Preemption

The court must now determine whether application of New York
law to enforce USPAP standards and to redress alleged fraudulent
business practices relating to the violation of these standards
conflict with the accomplishment and execution of the federal

objective that state laws should not “obstruct, 1mpair or

13




15]

condition” a national bank’s ability to engage in real estate
lending (see also 0TS Rules and Regulations, 61 FR 50951-01,
50966 [1996] [the OTS gstandard for evaluating whether state laws
are preempted under 12 CFR § 560.2 is if the state law 1s not
covered by sub-section (b), determining whether the law affects
lending]). The OTS has explicitly disclaimed any intent to
preempt non-conflicting state laws (OTS Rules and Regulations, 61
FR 50951-01, 50966 [1996]).

The Court determines that the enforcement of USPAP standards
to apprailsers performing services in New York, and the
application of GBL § 349, that prohibits businesses from making
misrepresentations to its customers, does not impair a bank’s
ability to lend and extend credit, nor does it conflict with
federal law.®

The core of the complaint is that Defendants allegedly
misrepresented to its customers and the public at large that they
were ﬁroviding third-party, unbiased valuationg that complied
with USPAP gstandards. The allegationg are that Defendants
violated USPAP appraisal independence rules, and that both 1its
fee appraisers directly engaged by Wamu, and its staff appraisers
engaged directly by its customers, engaged in deceptive business

practices by violating these independence standards.

* The AG’'s complaint also contains a claim for violation of
Executive Law § 160-y, that prohibits a state certified or
licensed real estate appraiser from accepting a fee for an
appraisal assignment that is contingent upon the apprailser
reporting a predetermined value. Defendants are not challenging
thisg cause of action, at this time.

14
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The complaint alleges numerous instances of violations of
USPAP rules, including permitting the replacement of its fee and
gtaff appraisers with appraisers hand-picked by Wamu because
these appraisers altered appraisal valuations to allow loans to
close, and permitting WAMU to direct the selection of appraisers
to perform appraisals on particular assignments, while misleading
customers into believing that they were obtaining accurate
appraisals. USPAP prohibits an appraiser from performing as an
advocate for any party in a transaction.

Further, the AG sufficiently alleges that this conduct is
violative of GBL § 349, insofar as the intentional misleading of
consumers in this state relating to the accuracy and independence
of the performance of appraisals constitutes fraudulent and
deceptive business practices that the AG may seek redress for
(GBL § 349 [b]l; see also Walts v First Union Mortgage Corp., 259
AD2d 322, 323 [1°° Dept] 1v dismissed, in part, denied, in part
[1999]) .

Defendants have not articulated how the enforcement of USPAP
astandards under New York law or the application of GBL § 349

conflicts with federal law, or otherwise interferes with a bank’s

" nationwide operations or ability to lend.

The AG has authority to insist that companies such as
Defendants who perform real estate appraisal services for New
York customers do so in accordance with USPAP standards, and free
of deceptive busgsiness practices.

Defendants rely heavily on Cedeno v Indymac Bancorp, Inc.

15
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(2008 WL 3992304 [8D NY 2008]), a class action lawsuit brought on
behalf of residential home mortgage borrowers against Indymac
Bancorp, Inc. (Indymac), alleging viclations of federal statutes,
and unfair business practices under California and New York law.
The complaint alleged, inter alia, that Indymac failed to
disclose to plaintiffs that it selected appraisers and appraisal
firms that inflated the value of residential property in order to
allow Indymac to complete more real estate transactions.
Characterizing the plaintiffs’ claims that challenged Indymac’'s
appraisal practices as a direct attack on the federal bank’'s
processing and origination of mortgages and loan-related fees,
the court determined that the state law claims were preempted
under HOLA.

First, the obvious distinction is that the defendants in
that action were a federal savings bank and its holding company,
whereas here, Defendants are appraisal service providers.

Further, the conclusion that federal law occupies the entire
field with respect to mortgage real egtate appraisals is contrary
to the unigue regulatory framework that FIRREA established that
expressly carved out roles for the federal government and the
states in the certification and licensing of appraisers, in
addition to the enforcement and compliance with USPAP standards
(12 USC §§ 1332, 3338, 3346-3348).

Moreover, it is a conclusion that is contrary to the
holdings of the only other courts to directly address the issue

(see Bolden, 2008 WL 2899728 at *5-8; Fidelity Nat. Info.

16




[§18]

Solutions, Inc., 2004 WL 764834; see alsc Watkins v Wells Fargo
Home Mortgage, 2008 US Dist LEXIS 47834, *13 [SD WV 2008]1).

It is also contrary to the declarations of the regulatory
agencies created by FIRREA, the Appraisal Foundation and the
Appraisal Subcommittee, that were created to spearhead compliance
and enforcement of USPAP.

Finally, there ié simply no authority to conclude that
Congress intended to treat real estate appraisal standards as
part of the loan corigination process. Many courts have
considered the preemptive effect of HOLA on various types of
state regulations that relate to the loan origination process and
loan-related fees.

These holdings consistently find that regulations that seek
to limit activities that directly impact fees such as the
recovery of mortgage rate lock-in fees (Silva v E*Trade Mortgage
Corp., 514 F 34 1001, 1005 I9m Cir 2008)), reconveyance fees
(Haehl v Washington Mut. Bank, F.A., 277 F Supp 24 933 [SD Ind
2003]), and interest on mortgage escrow accounts (Flagg v Yonkers
Sav. and Loan Assoc., FA, 396 F3d 178 [2d Cir], cert denied 546
US 817 [2005]), are preempted because they seek to regulate loan
originaticon fees that are central to the exercise of a national
bank’'s power (State Farm Bank, 539 F 3d at 345-46).

Although a lender or appraisal company charges a fee in
order to conduct an appraisal, this fee is incidental to the
standards of profeggional practice to which appraisers are held

to under USPAP and state law, and which are the central issue in

17
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this action. Further, although the appraisal process 1s one
segment of the overall gcheme of loan origination, in light of
FIRREA's unique regulatory framework that delegates complementary
roles to both the federal government and the states, the
regulation of the standards of this activity is simply not an
activity that Congress intended the preempted area of loan
origination to encompass. For these reasons, Defendants’ motion
is denied,

Accordingly, it is

ORDERED that Defendants’ motion to dismiss is denied; and it
ig further

ORDERED that Defendants are directed to serve an answer to
the complaint within 10 days after service of a copy of this
order with notice of entry; and it is further

ORDERED that the parties are directed to contact the Part

Clerk in order to schedule a discovery status confer

Dated: March 30, 2009
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